IN THE

Supreme Court

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT
FILED

OCT 16 2013

KATHLEEN A. WINN, et al., Plaintiffs and Appellants,

V.

Deputy CRC

PIONEER MEDICAL GROUP, INC., et al., Defendants and Respondents.

After a Published Decision by the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Eight Case No. B237712

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

COLE PEDROZA LLP

CURTIS A. COLE, SBN 52288

* KENNETH R. PEDROZA, SBN 184906
kpedroza@colepedroza.com
MATTHEW S. LEVINSON, SBN 175191
CASSIDY C. DAVENPORT, SBN 259340
200 S. Los Robles Avenue, Suite 300

Pasadena, CA 91101 Tel: (626) 431-2787 Fax: (626) 431-2788

CARROLL, KELLY, TROTTER, FRANZEN & MCKENNA

ISSUE PRESENTED

Does "neglect" within the meaning of the Elder Abuse and Dependent Adult Civil Protection Act (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 15657) include a health care provider's failure to refer an elder patient to a specialist if the care took place on an outpatient basis, or must an action for neglect under the Act allege that the defendant health care provider had a custodial relationship with the elder patient?

SUMMARY ANSWERS

The elder patient in this case, who received medical care on an outpatient basis, was not a victim of "neglect."

First, providing care, but allegedly failing to refer a patient to a specialist states, at most, a claim for professional negligence, not neglect. This Court has made it clear that claims for professional negligence and neglect are mutually exclusive. What is more, a claim for failure to refer a patient does not involve the level of culpability required for enhanced remedies under the Act.

Second, a claim for neglect against a health care provider only arises in the context of a custodial relationship. When, as here, medical care is provided on an outpatient basis, no such custodial relationship exists.

Therefore, plaintiffs' claim for neglect fails.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Plaintiffs' Decedent Voluntarily And Independently Sought And Received Outpatient Podiatric Care From Defendants On An As-Needed Basis

Plaintiffs are the heirs of Elizabeth Cox ("patient" or "decedent"), who was a competent and independent elderly adult. (Slip Opn., p. 3.) She was autonomous, meaning that she was not a resident in a nursing home or other custodial care facility. She retained control over her medical decisions.

Decedent was a patient of defendant Pioneer Medical Group, which has offices in Cerritos and Long Beach. (Appellants' Appendix ("AA") 71; Slip Opn., p. 3.) Decedent received outpatient care for nearly a decade from defendant, Emerico Csepanyi, M.D., a general practitioner at Pioneer Medical Group offices. (AA 71; Slip Opn., p. 3.) She also voluntarily sought and received outpatient treatment from other defendant physicians at the Group for ongoing foot problems. (Slip Opn., pp. 3-5.) In 2004, decedent sought treatment from defendant Stanley Lowe, D.P.M., a podiatrist, for a toenail infection. (AA 71; Slip Opn., p. 3.) Dr. Lowe evaluated decedent again in late 2007 and early 2008 for a toenail infection. (AA 72-73.) Dr. Lowe drained the infection, prescribed medication, and recommended follow-up treatment. (AA 72-73.)

During this time, decedent continued to treat with her general practitioner, Dr. Csepanyi. In 2007, Dr. Csepanyi diagnosed decedent with peripheral vascular disease. (AA 72.) Neither Dr. Csepanyi nor Dr. Lowe referred decedent to a vascular specialist. (AA 73.)

In December 2008, decedent presented to defendant James Chinuk Lee, D.P.M., for a laceration on her right foot. (AA 73.) Dr. Lee cleaned the wound, prescribed antibiotics, and instructed decedent to return for follow-up care as needed. (*Ibid.*) Decedent returned to Dr. Lee one month later, complaining that the wound was not healing. (*Ibid.*) She also saw Dr. Csepanyi that month with the same complaints. (*Ibid.*) Dr. Csepanyi diagnosed pain in the foot, and he prescribed medications and foot soaks. (*Ibid.*) According to plaintiffs' complaint, these symptoms "are evidence of cellular deterioration and tissue destruction due to peripheral vascular ischemia[.]" (*Ibid.*)

Decedent treated with Dr. Lowe and Dr. Csepanyi several more times in February and March 2009. (AA 73-74.) Their treatment for decedent's ongoing foot problems included topical creams, special shoes, and recommendations for follow-up care. (*Ibid.*)

A day after visiting Dr. Csepanyi in March 2009, decedent was admitted to Lakewood Regional Medical Center with symptoms of ischemia in her right leg. (AA 74.) An attempt to restore blood supply to the affected area was unsuccessful. (*Ibid.*) Ultimately, decedent's right leg was amputated. (AA 74-75.)

Almost one year later, in January 2010, decedent was admitted to Marshall Medical Center due to sepsis. (AA 75.) She was placed on palliative care and died on January 8, 2010, at the age of 83. (*Ibid.*)

Plaintiffs have identified no issues of purported "neglect" arising from the conduct of the defendants during either hospitalization. Instead, plaintiffs claim that, in the course of treating

decedent as an outpatient, defendants failed to recognize the need for a vascular specialist to evaluate decedent's foot, which led to the amputation of her leg and, ultimately, her death. (See Slip Opn., pp. 6, 16-17.) Plaintiffs contend that defendants violated the standard of care because they failed to refer decedent to a vascular specialist. They allege that by February 2009, "the only appropriate care at that time (after cleaning the wound) would have been a referral to a vascular specialist[.]" (AA 73.) They also assert, "[b]y no later than March 3, 2009, a standard revascularization procedure, either by an endovascular approach . . . or an alternative procedure would, more probably than not, have saved [decedent's] leg." (AA 75.)

B. Plaintiffs Filed Two Lawsuits Based On The Same Set Of Facts – The First For "Medical Malpractice" And The Second For "Elder Abuse"

Plaintiffs filed two separate lawsuits based on the same set of facts – one for professional negligence, which is governed by the Medical Injury Compensation Reform Act ("MICRA"), a series of statutes aimed at controlling the increasing costs of medical malpractice litigation, and one for neglect under the Elder Abuse and Dependent Adult Civil Protection Act (the "Elder Abuse Act"), which gives rise to "enhanced remedies" and which is not subject to the protections of MICRA. (Slip Opn., p. 6.)

The professional negligence action is pending in the Superior Court (Super. Ct. L.A. County, No. BC434184). The elder abuse action ended with a judgment of dismissal when the trial court sustained a demurrer on the ground that plaintiff failed to allege a

claim for neglect under the Elder Abuse Act. (AA 158.) The trial court relied on *Carter v. Prime Healthcare Paradise Valley LLC* ("*Carter*") (2011) 198 Cal.App.4th 396, 408, to find that plaintiffs' elder abuse action amounted to nothing more than professional negligence. (Slip Opn., pp. 6-7.)

C. The Court Of Appeal Reversed The Trial Court's Judgment On Demurrer To Plaintiffs' Elder Abuse Action

In a split decision, the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Eight, reversed the judgment of dismissal (the "Opinion"). The majority held that plaintiffs' allegations that defendants repeatedly failed to refer decedent to a specialist, despite the fact that they knew there was a "strong probability" of harm if they did not, was sufficient to plead a claim for elder abuse. (Slip Opn., pp. 16-17.)

The Court of Appeal rejected the governing precedent on the issue of health practitioner liability for neglect under the Elder Abuse Act. It failed to adhere to this Court's careful distinction between neglect and professional negligence articulated in *Delaney v. Baker* ("*Delaney*") (1999) 20 Cal.4th 23 and *Covenant Care, Inc. v. Superior Court* ("*Covenant Care*") (2004) 32 Cal.4th 771. (Slip Opn., pp. 11-18.) Although the Court of Appeal acknowledged that "professional negligence, on the one hand, and abuse and neglect, on the other, are distinct and mutually exclusive[,]" the Court was willing to leave the distinction between the two theories to a jury to sort out. (Slip Opn., 19-20.)

Presiding Justice Bigelow dissented. She found that the distinction drawn in *Delaney*, between elder abuse and professional negligence, requires dismissal of the elder abuse action because the set of facts plaintiffs allege "is classic professional negligence." (Slip Opn., dis. opn. of Bigelow, P.J., p. 5.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Opinion erroneously conflates claims for neglect and professional negligence. What is more, the Opinion impermissibly expands the reach of neglect claims to the health practitioners who provide outpatient care in their own offices – a context where a health practitioner and a patient are certainly not in a custodial relationship.

In cases such as this, where plaintiffs allege that a doctor provided medical care, but allegedly failed to refer the patient to another health care provider, the claim sounds in professional negligence. In fact, CACI 508 and BAJI 6.04 cover this very type of claim for professional negligence. Understanding this, plaintiffs filed a separate suit for professional negligence.

Nevertheless, plaintiffs attempted to fit their professional liability allegations into a claim for neglect. Claims for neglect under the Elder Abuse Act require, among other things, that health care providers deprive their patients of all care.

Additionally, entitlement to the enhanced remedies of the Elder Abuse Act requires plaintiffs to specifically plead facts giving rise to a much higher level of culpability than negligence. Especially egregious abuse is required. This case presents the opportunity for the Court to continue drawing the line of distinction between claims for professional negligence and neglect.

Equally critical is the prerequisite of a custodial relationship to a claim for neglect. Health care providers who treat elder patients at their offices are in a physician-patient relationship with their patients, and are liable for professional negligence if their treatment falls below the standard of care. But, such treatment does not create a custodial relationship. That is to say, by treating patients over the age of 65, the health care providers are not exposing themselves to the expansive liability created by the enhanced remedies of the Elder Abuse Act. If it were otherwise, health care providers would face a tremendous disincentive to treat such patients.

Both *Delaney* and *Covenant Care* underscore the prerequisite of a custodial relationship to a claim for neglect. This Court now has an opportunity to explain that a claim for neglect cannot be stated against a health care provider when medical treatment is provided on an outpatient basis. This is because the outpatient context does not give rise to the requisite custodial relationship.

The Legal Analysis section of this brief begins with a recount of the pertinent statutory language of the Elder Abuse Act and a discussion of this Court's opinions interpreting it. The brief then separately discusses both aspects of the issue presented ("neglect" and "custodial relationship"). Finally, it analyzes the practical implications of this Court's decision for this case and future cases.

LEGAL ANALYSIS

I. THE ELDER ABUSE ACT PROVIDES ENHANCED CIVIL
REMEDIES FOR CASES OF RECKLESS NEGLECT, BUT NOT FOR
PROFESSIONAL NEGLIGENCE

A. The Elder Abuse Act Defines Neglect

The Elder Abuse Act makes certain enhanced remedies available to a plaintiff who proves abuse of a person who is 65 years of age or older. (Welf. & Inst. Code, §§ 15610.27 & 15657.) A plaintiff must prove by "clear and convincing evidence" that a defendant is liable for neglect (as defined by the Elder Abuse Act) and the defendant acted with "recklessness, oppression, fraud, or malice" while committing that neglect. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 15657.)¹

Neglect, as defined in the Elder Abuse Act, is the "negligent failure of any person having the care or custody of an elder . . . to exercise that degree of care that a reasonable person in a like position would exercise." (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 15610.57, subd. (a)(1).) Neglect includes failure to assist in personal hygiene or in the provision of food; the failure to provide medical care for physical and mental health needs; the failure to protect from health and safety hazards; and the failure to prevent malnutrition or dehydration. (*Id.*, subd. (b).)

Because plaintiffs limit their claim to neglect, and not physical abuse or financial abuse, defendants' discussion of the Elder Abuse Act will be similarly limited. Likewise, because decedent was an elder, not a dependent adult, defendants will focus upon that aspect of the Elder Abuse Act.

The "statutory definition of 'neglect' speaks not of the undertaking of medical services, but of the failure to provide medical care." (Covenant Care, supra, 32 Cal.4th at 783.) Thus, acts of negligence in the rendition of medical services are not governed by the Elder Abuse Act. (Delaney, supra, 20 Cal.4th at 34.)

Recklessness is not defined in the Elder Abuse Act. This Court has held that for purposes of the Elder Abuse Act, it is "a subjective state of culpability greater than simple negligence, which has been described as a 'deliberate disregard' of the 'high degree of probability' that an injury will occur[.]" (*Delaney, supra, 20 Cal.4th at 31.*) "Recklessness, unlike negligence, involves more than 'inadvertence, incompetence, unskillfulness, or failure to take precautions' but rather rises to the level of a 'conscious choice of a course of action . . . with knowledge of the serious danger to others involved in it.' [Citation]." (*Id.* at 31–32.)

B. The Elder Abuse Act Intended To Provide Civil Protection To Elders Who Are So Infirm As To Be Dependent On Others For Their Basic Needs

The Elder Abuse Act begins with the Legislature's declarations and statement of intent. Section 15600 recognizes that infirm elders are a disadvantaged class. They may have mental and verbal limitations, be in poor health, be in a dependent and vulnerable position, and at risk of abuse, neglect, or abandonment by their families or caretakers. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 15600, subds. (a)-(e), & (h).) The Elder Abuse Act does not mention professional negligence.

Nor does the statement of legislative intent suggest that the Elder Abuse Act's purpose is to protect elders from professional negligence.

In other words, the legislative purpose of the Act is to protect those elders who cannot provide for their own basic needs from abuse by the very persons upon whom they are dependent for those basic needs. More simply stated, it is to protect those elders who are "vulnerable" to abuse.

Thus, the gravamen of an elder abuse action is that the defendant abused the elderly person who was vulnerable to abuse and incapable of asking for help and protection. That is not this case.

This Court previously interpreted the legislative intent of the Elder Abuse Act. As noted in *Delaney*, "one of the major objectives of this legislation was the protection of residents of nursing homes and other health care facilities." (*Delaney, supra,* 20 Cal.4th at 37.) The Court recounted the studies of elder abuse in *health care facilities* that led to passage of section 15657. (*Delaney, supra,* 20 Cal.4th at 35-36.) Once the extent of the problem was known, the Legislature sought to deter elder abuse through criminal penalties, regulatory sanctions, and civil penalties. (See Pen. Code, § 368; Health & Saf. Code, § 1418.91; Welf. & Inst. Code, § 15657.)

The role of health practitioners is to facilitate this deterrence by reporting suspected abuse in exchange for protection from civil liability resulting from the reporting. In effect, the Elder Abuse Act functions to deter elder abuse by protecting those health practitioners and other individuals who report the abuse and by providing incentives in the form of "enhanced remedies" for those who prosecute civil actions against abusers. In other words, health

practitioners are not the group of persons from whom vulnerable elders needed protection.

1. The Intent Of The Elder Abuse Act Was To Distinguish Between Health Practitioners And Care Custodians

Under the statutory framework of the Elder Abuse Act, all three individual defendants in this case fall within the definition of "health practitioner" set forth in Section 15610.37. The phrase "health practitioner" does not appear anywhere else in the civil provisions of the Elder Abuse Act. The term "health practitioner" does not appear in Section 15610.07, which defines "abuse of an elder or a dependent adult." Likewise, the term does not appear in Section 15610.57, which defines "neglect."

Another way to describe a "health practitioner" is as a "health care provider." The only section in the Elder Abuse Act where the phrase "health care provider" appears is Section 15657.2, which states that "any cause of action for injury or damage against a health care provider, as defined in Section 340.5 of the Code of Civil Procedure, based on the health care provider's alleged professional negligence, shall be governed by those laws which specifically apply to those professional negligence causes of action." (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 15657.2.)

In addressing the concerns of the California Medical
Association to the broad reporting requirements of the Elder Abuse
Act, the Legislature explained that only those health practitioners with
custodial obligations to elders would be liable under the Elder Abuse

Act: "The California Medical Association argues that doctors should not be responsible for the acts or omissions of another, and this bill will make them responsible in this regard. However, this argument is flawed in that the only doctors who will be liable under this law will be either those with direct supervision of the elder or doctors in charge of facilities or others with supervision over the elder." (Assem., Republican Caucus, Analysis of Sen. Bill No. 2199 (1997-1998 Reg. Sess.) as amended Apr. 28, 1998 (June 26, 1998) p. 1.)

2. The Elder Abuse Act Should Be Construed In Its Entirety, Bearing In Mind The Legislative Intent

Plaintiffs' overly simplistic interpretation of the Elder Abuse Act requires portions of the Act to be read out of context. Focusing on the phrases "care or custody" and "failure to provide medical care" contained in section 15610.57, subdivisions (a)(1) and (b)(1), plaintiffs argue that claims for "neglect" extend to a health practitioner's failure to refer the patient to a specialist. Plaintiffs take the phrases out of context in an attempt to expand liability under the Elder Abuse Act further than the Legislature intended.

Reading these phrases out of context as a means to create health practitioner liability for a failure to refer an elderly patient to a specialist is not what the Legislature intended. (*Lungren v. Deukmejian* (1988) 45 Cal.3d 727, 735 ["The meaning of a statute may not be determined from a single word or sentence; the words must be construed in context, and provisions relating to the same

subject matter must be harmonized to the extent possible"].) This Court should not ignore the statutory scheme.

C. This Court, Construing The Elder Abuse Act, Explained That Claims For Professional Negligence Are Mutually Exclusive From Claims For Neglect

This Court has twice distinguished neglect and professional negligence in the context of the Elder Abuse Act. First, in *Delaney*, the Court rejected plaintiffs' argument that conduct can give rise to both claims. (*Delaney, supra,* 20 Cal.4th at 29-30.) The Court examined the legislative history of the Act and found that "those who enacted the statute thought that the term 'professional negligence,' at least within the meaning of section 15657.2, was *mutually exclusive* of the abuse and neglect specified in section 15657." (*Id.* at 30, emphasis added.) This Court explained,

[N]eglect within the meaning of former section 15610.57 appears to cover an area of misconduct distinct from "professional negligence" in section 15657.2: "neglect" as defined in former section 15610.57 and used in section 15657 does not refer to the performance of medical services in a manner inferior to "the knowledge, skill and care ordinarily possessed and employed by members of the profession in good standing"... but rather to the failure of those responsible for attending to the basic needs and comforts of elderly or dependent adults, regardless of their professional standing, to carry out their custodial obligations. It is instructive that the

statutory definition quoted above gives as an example of "neglect" not negligence in the undertaking of medical services but the more fundamental "[f]ailure to provide medical care for physical and mental health needs."

(Delaney, supra, 20 Cal.4th at 34, emphasis added and citations omitted.)

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