SUPREME COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

JAN 1 0 2014

Frank A. McGuire Clark

Deputy

KATHLEEN A. WINN and KAREN BREDAHL, individually and as Sole Surviving Heirs of ELIZABETH M. COX, deceased, Plaintiffs and Appellants,

VS.

PIONEER MEDICAL GROUP, INC.; EMERICO CSEPANYI, M.D.; JAMES CHINUK LEE, DPM; STANLEY LOWE, DPM Defendants and Respondents.

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

After a Published Decision by the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Eight, Case No. B237712

CLAY ROBBINS III (SBN 101275)
MAGAÑA, CATHCART & MCCARTHY
1900 Avenue of the Stars, Suite 650
Los Angeles, CA 90067-5899
Tel: (310) 553-6630

Fax: (310) 553-6630

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

The Act's language on this point is clear. Respondents' attempt, in the guise of "interpretation," to strip all non-dependent "elders" of the Act's protections is inappropriate.

b. The Class of Persons Potentially Responsible for Injuring a Protected Elder Arising From Their Neglect is Not Limited

In a similar fashion, Respondents would limit the reach of the Act to persons who have caused injury due to neglect only if they have a custodial relationship with a covered elder. First, this is clearly contrary to the express language of the statute. Second, even if a "care custodian" was the limited class the Legislature meant to hold responsible, its definition of "care custodian" is broad enough to encompass Respondents. Finally, this Court has not limited the identity of those responsible for injuries to elders caused by neglect to "care custodians." Where the proscribed acts occur and who commits those egregious acts should have no bearing, whatsoever, on whether the Act should be applied.

i.) Respondents' attempt to limit the class of persons whose neglect may be remedied is contrary to the language of the statute

The remedial provision of the Act, § 15657, was added by the Legislature in 1991. Except for the terms "elder," "dependent adult," "neglect," and "physical abuse," (added to definitions §15610 in 1994), § 15657 does not directly or indirectly limit the scope of its application. It certainly does not restrict its reach to only "care custodians" (defined at §15610.17). Indeed, the term "care custodian" is employed in the Act's reporting requirement sections. (§§15630-15632). By contrast, it is § 15657 that provides the remedy for "reckless neglect." Neglect is ultimately defined

in the later added section 15610.57. That section also does *not* refer to a "care custodian." Rather, it is directed to "any person" who has *either* "care or custody" of an elder. (§15610.57(a)(1).) The allegations of the Complaint explicitly state Mrs. Cox was under the "sole medical *care*" of Respondents (AA at 71, ¶4) It is further stated that Respondents' decisions took place while they were providing "care" for Mrs. Cox, as that term is utilized in §15610.57(a) (AA at 71, ¶4)

Therefore, Respondents' attempt to erroneously link the definition of "care custodian" to the reach of civil remedies addressed in § 15657, is entirely misguided. To be sure, care custodians *can* be held responsible under the Act for their harmful neglect of elders. However, there is nothing in the Act that restricts its remedial reach *solely* to "care custodians."

ii.) Respondents' attempt to hold only "care custodians" responsible under the Act is grammatically incorrect

Respondents' effort to restrict the remedial section of the Act to custodial relationships is entirely dependent upon an erroneous grammatical argument. Respondents try to equate the term "care" with "custody," in § 15610.57. In essence, Respondents suggest that one or the other word in that section is either unnecessary, or meaningless. However, this is expressly contrary to how courts are to interpret a statute. *People v. Cruz, supra*, 13 Cal.4th at 782. Courts must first look to the words of a statute and try to give effect to the ordinary meaning of the language in a way that does not render

any language mere surplusage. Pasadena Metro Blue Line Const. Authority v. Pacific Bell Telephone Co. (2006) 140 Cal.App.4th 658, 664.

As noted, § 15610.57 defines neglect as applying to "any person having the care or custody of an elder or a dependent adult . . ." (Emphasis added.) Respondents claim "Having the care or custody' means that the defendant must have 'custodial obligations,' not merely provide care." They attempt to support this claim largely through parsing – that is, analyzing the grammatical constituents and syntax³ – the Act's definition of neglect. But their analysis has no basis in English grammar or compositional logic; indeed, their parsing of § 15610.57, subd. (a)(1), is profoundly misleading.

Respondents' assertion that the Legislature's use of the definite article "the" preceding the term "care or custody" indicates the need of a relationship more significant than merely between someone who provides care and the recipient of that care is grammatically and syntactically illogical. The precedent they cite for this assertion reads as follows: "in construing [a] statute, [the] definite article 'the' particularizes the subject which is precedes and is [a] word of limitation as opposed to [an] indefinite or generalizing force [such as] 'a' or 'an." CD Investment Co. v. California Insurance Guarantee Assn. (2001) 84 Cal.App.4th 1410, 1421. Grammatically, however, using

³ The rules for formulating grammatical sentences.

"the" to particularize "care or custody" in no way limits the meaning of the sentence to a specific kind of care or custody. This is evident when one takes into consideration that the Act clearly indicates that "neglect" can be applied to "any person having the care or custody of an elder" (emphasis added).

If the Legislature intended to indicate the necessity for a particular relationship, then they would have specified that relationship. In the absence of such specification, we must rely on the most obvious (or "plain meaning") understanding of § 15610.57. Contrary to the assertions of Respondents, the "plain meaning" interpretation of the statute is that the term "neglect" can be applied to:

- "Any person" who provides care for an elder or dependent adult;
 or
- 2. "Any person" who has custody of either an elder or dependent adult; or
- 3. Both 1 and 2 above.

The formulation of this language in the Act makes it clear that "or" is being used as an *inclusive*⁴ *disjunctive conjunction* – that is, a conjunction that denotes separation or alternatives, while also allowing that both alternatives

See Bryan A. Garner, *A Dictionary of Modern Legal Usage* (2nd ed., 1995), p. 624: "Authorities agree that [. . .] *or* has an inclusive as well as an exclusive sense [:] [. . .] A or B, or both."

may be true. In other words, "neglect" can be applied to someone who meets condition 1, or condition 2, or *both* conditions. If the Legislature had written "neglect" could only be applied to any person having the care *and* custody of an elder, then perhaps the term "neglect" would be applicable only to caregivers who have some from of custodial relationship with the elder, but this is not the case since the operative conjunction is "or," not "and."

Respondents also assert that "the Legislature's decision not to repeat the definite article 'the' before the word custody "[. . .] means that 'care' and 'custody' should be read as synonymous." This assertion is seriously flawed on two counts:

First, grammatically there is no need for "the" to be repeated. To support the claim that "care' and 'custody' should be read as identical or synonymous," Respondent's cite Bryan A. Garner's brief note on "repeated" articles: "When two or more nouns are connected by a conjunction, it is usually best to repeat the article before each noun. When the article is not repeated, the sense conveyed is that the nouns are identical or synonymous." However, the examples that Garner present use the conjunction "and," not "or": "The committee elected a secretary and treasurer' (one person); 'The committee elected a secretary and a treasurer' (two persons)." It is important to note that Garner's examples fail to illustrate his point: the terms "secretary

and treasurer" are neither "identical" (the exact same in substance and appearance), nor "synonymous" (expressing the same meaning or idea). This nullifies Garner's claim, despite the suggestion in the first example that both offices are to be held by one person. Similarly, the second example *suggests* that two people were elected to these offices. But in both examples ambiguity remains.

While Garner might *prefer* for the article to be repeated, a basic rule of English grammar is that "With a series of coordinate nouns, an article may appear before each noun but *is not necessary*" (emphasis added). *The Chicago Manual of Style* gives the following example: "The rose bush and hedge need trimming." In the same way, "care" and "custody" are the coordinate nouns within § 15610.57, and there is therefore no necessity for "the" to be repeated before "custody." Although the Legislature *could* have written "the care or the custody," such omissions as this one are commonplace in writing and do not alter the meaning of the sentence.

Second, all authoritative primary definitions of the word "or" indicate that it is a conjunction that emphasizes two (or more) sentence elements between which there is an *alternative*. The *Oxford English Dictionary* (3rd ed., 2004), for example, defines "or" as a conjunction that is "Used to coordinate two (or more) sentence elements between which there is an alternative."

Similarly, *The American Heritage Dictionary of the English Language* (5th ed.) defines "or" as a conjunction "used to indicate alternatives" (p. 1238).

The notion that two terms conjoined by a particular conjunction (whether "and," "or," or some other conjunction) are, without other syntactical signals, identical or synonymous is simply false. Respondents are perhaps confused by a secondary definition of the word "or," which states that "or" can be used to connect "two words denoting the same thing," in place of a phrase such as "otherwise called" or "that is," as in this example: "By early Tuesday he was dead – a victim of the most deadly of the world's culinary delicacies, the blowfish or fugu." Clearly, parsing the phrase "having the care or custody" so that it reads "having the care or [otherwise called/that is] custody" defies the "plain meaning" interpretation and is therefore a distortion.

iii.) Nonetheless, Respondents qualify as "care custodians" under § 15610.17(b)

As previously mentioned, the term "care custodian" does not appear in the Act's remedial section. Even if the term had any relevance to the discussion now before this Court, the Act explicitly recognizes that this status

See Oxford English Dictionary (3rd ed., 2004). <www.oed.com>

Ibid.

applies to Respondents in the context of the services they exclusively were providing to Mrs. Cox for a number of years.

Section 15610.17 states that a "care custodian" is "an administrator or employee of any of the following public or private facilities or agencies or persons providing care or services for elders . . ." The section then lists various facilities ((a) through (y)) most of which are not residential care centers. One class of service identified in that section are "clinics." §15610.17(b). That term is itself defined in Health and Safety Code § 1200 as an establishment providing out-patient health services to the public.

In their website, <u>www.pioneermedicalgroup.com</u>, Respondents represent they are comprised of "qualified physicians" providing services in "seven *clinics* located in Bellflower, Cerritos, Downey, Long Beach, and South Gate." The neglect of Mrs. Cox involved the individual Respondents in two of their clinics. (AA at 70-71, ¶5) By their own admission, Respondents are "care custodians," as that term is defined in the Act.

iv.) This Court did not hold in either *Delaney* or Covenant Care that the Act's protection against neglect applied only to care custodians

The language in *Delaney*, again cited in *Covenant Care*, that the purpose of the Act is to protect the vulnerable elderly "from gross mistreatment in the form of abuse and custodial neglect[]" (*Delaney, supra*, 20

Cal.4th at 33) and that "neglect under the Act refers to "the failure of those responsible for attending to the basic needs and comforts of elderly or dependent adults, regardless of their professional standing, to carry out their custodial obligations" (*Delaney*, at 34), is emphasized by Respondents and to a degree by the dissenting opinion. Appellants acknowledge that both *Delaney* and *Covenant Care* refer to "custodial neglect," "custodial obligations" and "custodial duties." But as previously noted, in both cases the defendants were nursing facilities that both performed custodial functions and acted as health care providers. Neither case proposed to construe the Act in any other context.

In neither *Delaney* nor *Covenant Care* was this Court called upon to determine whether the Act limited its protections only to those elders in long term care settings. Neither case states that the Act does *not* also apply to reckless neglect by healthcare providers in outpatient settings. Although this Court in *Delaney* stated "the legislative history suggests that nursing homes and other health care providers were among the primary targets of the Elder Abuse Act" (*Delaney, supra*, 20 Cal.4th at 41), that language in *Delaney* and the other cases Respondents cite, when considered in their context, do not support a broad proposition that the Act was intended to target *only* long term care facilities.

Accordingly, Respondents overstate the holdings of those cases. Cases are not authority for questions not raised or addressed. *Courtesy Ambulance Service v. Superior Court* (1992) 8 Cal.App.4th 1504, 1517, fn. 10 ["it is axiomatic that cases are not authority for points not raised and discussed"] see also, *Covenant Care, supra*, 32 Cal.4th at 790, fn. 11 ["an unnecessarily broad holding is 'informed and limited by the facts[s]' of the case in which it is articulated"].

B. THE MAJORITY OPINION CAREFULLY MAINTAINS THE DISTINCTION BETWEEN "SIMPLE NEGLIGENCE" AND "RECKLESS NEGLECT," AND THUS PRESERVES THE INTERESTS FOSTERED BY BOTH MICRA AND THE ELDER ABUSE ACT

Respondents accuse the majority opinion of confusing the concepts of reckless neglect and "simple negligence." However, the majority opinion recognizes that the Act provides heightened civil remedies for "forms of abuse or neglect performed with some state of culpability greater than mere negligence." *Delaney, supra*, 20 Cal.4th at 32; [see also, *Mack, supra*, 80 Cal.App.4th at 975]. (Slip opn., p. 19.) Therefore, as recognized by the majority, the only form of "neglect" that entitles a plaintiff to heightened civil remedies under the Act is "reckless neglect." The majority discusses the distinction between "reckless" misconduct and simple negligence, and in so

doing harmonizes its decision with the opinion of this Court in *Delaney*. (Slip opn., pp. 16-20.)

As noted in *Delaney*, the remedial section of the Act does *not* refer to "the performance of medical services in a manner inferior to 'the knowledge, skill and care ordinarily possessed and employed by members of the profession and in good standing." *Delaney, supra*, 20 Cal.4th at 34. This Court then explicitly held that § 15657.2 was intentionally added to emphasize that the concept of "professional negligence" is "mutually exclusive of the 'abuse' and 'neglect' defined in § 15657." *Id.* This Court said it so held based both upon the language of the statute and its history. *Id.*

Although the term "reckless" is not defined in the Act, that concept was authoritatively described in *Shell Oil v. Winterthur Swiss Inc. Co.* (1993) 12 Cal.App.4th 715. There the court interpreted the scope of the "willful acts exclusion" in Insurance Code § 533. To describe recklessness, for which insurance coverage is not precluded under § 533, the *Shell Oil* court referred to the Restatement's differentiation between "intentional misconduct" and "recklessness." In that regard, the court observed "as the probability that the consequences will follow decreases, and becomes less than substantial certainty, the actor's conduct loses the character of intent, and becomes mere recklessness..." *Id.* at 742.

"Recklessness," the court held, does not "require actual foreknowledge of the harmful consequences of the particular acts; it is enough that a reasonable person would have recognized the aggravated risk . . . (citations). A merely reckless person lacks subjective awareness of the near certainty of harm. 'While an act to be reckless must be intended by the actor, the actor does not intend to cause the harm which resulted from it. It is enough that he realizes or, from facts which he knows, should realize that there is a strong probability that harm may result, even though he hopes or even expects that his conduct will prove harmless." Shell Oil v. Winterthur Swiss Inc. Co, supra, 12 Cal.App.4th 742. This is consistent with how this Court has described the concept, as conduct by a person who may have no intent to cause harm, but who intentionally performs an act so unreasonable that he knows, or should know, that it is highly probable harm will result. See, City of Santa Barbara v. Superior Court (2007) 41 Cal.4th 747, 754.

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